REVIEW

Open Access

Host cell factors involved in classical swine fever virus entry



Yaneysis Lamothe-Reyes^{1,2*}, Maximiliano Figueroa¹ and Oliberto Sánchez^{2*}

Abstract

Classical swine fever virus (CSFV) is an ancient pathogen that continues to pose a threat to animal agriculture worldwide. The virus belongs to the genus *Pestivirus* and the family *Flaviviridae*. It causes a multisystemic disease that affects only pigs and is responsible for significant economic losses. CSFV infection is probably a multistep process that involves the proteins in the virus envelope and more than one receptor in the membrane of permissive cells. To date, the cellular receptors essential for CSFV entry and their detailed functions during this process remains unknown. All the viral envelope proteins Erns, E1 and E2 are involved in the entry process to some extent and the experimental approaches conducted until now have helped to unveil their contributions. This review aims to provide an overview of current knowledge on cellular molecules described to be involved in CSFV entry, including complement regulatory protein 46 (CD46), heparan sulphate (HS), Laminin receptor, Integrin ß3, Annexin II, MERKT and ADAM17. This knowledge would not only help to understand the molecular mechanisms involved in pestivirus infection, but also provide a rational basis for the development of nonvaccinal alternatives for CSFV control.

Keywords CSFV, receptor, CD46, HS, Laminin receptor, ADAM17, entry

Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Viral proteins involved in CSFV entry
 - 2.1 Erns
 - 2.2 E1
 - 2.3 E2
- 3 Cellular proteins involved in CSFV entry
 - 3.1 Complement regulatory protein (CD46)-46

Communicated by Stéphane Biacchesi.

*Correspondence: Yaneysis Lamothe-Reyes ylamothe@udec.cl Oliberto Sánchez osanchez@udec.cl ¹ Laboratory of Molecular Biophysics, Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of Concepcion, Concepcion, Chile ² Laboratory of Recombinant Biopharmaceuticals, Department

of Pharmacology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of Concepcion, Concepcion, Chile

- 3.2 A disintegrin and metalloproteinase 17 (ADAM17)
- 3.3 Heparan sulfate
- 3.4 Laminin receptor
- 3.5 Integrin ß3
- 3.6 Annexin II
- 3.7 MERTK
- 4 Current issues and future challenges
- 5 Conclusion
- References

1 Introduction

Classical swine fever virus (CSFV) is an ancient pathogen responsible for classical swine fever (CSF), one of the most lethal diseases affecting domestic pigs and wild boar [1, 2]. CSF causes massive economic losses and is a threat to animal health, which is the main reason for its mandatory notification to the World Organization for Animal Health (WOAH) [3]. CSFV is a single-stranded, positive-sense enveloped virus belonging to the genus



© The Author(s) 2023. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

Pestivirus within the family Flaviviridae, which also includes the genera Flavivirus, Hepacivirus, and Pegivirus [4, 5]. Other well-known pathogens included in this genus Pestivirus are the bovine viral diarrhea virus-1 (BVDV-1), BVDV-2, and border disease virus (BDV) [2]. CSF virions have icosahedral symmetry and are 40-60 nm in diameter. Its genome of approximately 12.3 kb contains untranslated regions (UTR) at the 5' and 3' ends, and a large open reading frame (ORF) encoding a single polyprotein. After co- and post-translational processing by viral and host proteases, the polyprotein matures into 4 structural and 8 non-structural proteins [6-8]. The non-structural proteins (Npro, p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A and NS5B), except for Npro, are distributed toward the 3' end of the genome. They are encoded by an amino acid sequence that is highly conserved among members of the genus Pestivirus and assist mainly in viral replication and immune evasion [9]. Structural proteins include C, Erns, E1 and E2, which are mainly involved in virus assembly. Erns, E1 and E2 are located on the surface of the virion while C is associated with the capsid [7].

CSFV enters the host through the mucous membranes of the oronasal cavities and initially infects the epithelial cells of the tonsillar crypts, spreading throughout the body via the blood and lymphatic circulation and subsequently invading the lymphoid tissue [10]. In a next step, the virus is transported to the regional lymph nodes and enters the efferent blood capillaries, resulting in viremia [11]. The virus then replicates in the bone marrow and secondary lymphoid organs, including the spleen, lymph nodes, and small intestinal lymphoid structures [12]. Parenchymatous organs are invaded late in the viremic phase. CSFV has a distinctive tropism for cells of the immune system, causing severe leukopenia associated with apoptosis of leukocytes in the thymus, spleen, lymph nodes, and bone marrow of infected pigs [13–16]. The ultimate outcome of viral infection is generally associated with a complex and diverse host response to the virus.

Interactions between the envelope proteins of a virus and cellular receptors are crucial in the infection process [17]. These interactions can facilitate the attachment of the virus to the cell without the subsequent membrane fusion and entry, or they can induce the conformational changes necessary for these events to occur. The receptors involved in the first of these interactions are known as attachment receptors and play an important role in the infection of certain cells by increasing entry efficiency. However, it is the presence of entry receptors that determines whether a particular cell type is susceptible to infection [18]. The cellular mechanisms leading to CSFV entry requires a deeper study. The virus-host interactions that take place during infection are relevant for the discernment of the mechanisms involved in this process and to open new opportunities to develop novel therapeutic approaches. The aim of this review is to provide an overview of the current knowledge related to the interactions between CSFV and the host cell factors involved in its entrance.

2 Viral proteins involved in CSFV entry

The infection process of CSFV, like that of other members of the *Flaviviridae* family, is probably a complex multistep process not fully understood. Cell entry of pestiviruses in general, and of CSFV in particular, is probably one of the least comprehended events. It has been established that CSFV enters PK15 cells through a receptormediated endocytosis mechanism dependent on clathrin, cholesterol, dynamin, and the Rab5 and Rab7 proteins [19]. A similar mechanism was demonstrated for BVDV internalization, including the need of low-pH conditions [20, 21]. Likewise, it seems that CSFV can also employ different endocytic pathways to infect different cells, as it showed to relay in caveolin to infect porcine alveolar macrophages [22]. CSFV surface proteins are involved in the initial interaction with the membrane receptors. Erns facilitates initial cell attachment [29], while interaction of E2 with one or more receptors mediates entry. After entry, fusion of the viral and cellular membranes is mediated by the E1 and E2 glycoproteins in a pH-dependent process [28], in which the E2 peptide 129CPIGWTG- $VIEC_{139}$ is thought to be involved [30]. Once the genetic material is released into the cytosol, the pathogen hijacks the cellular machinery to replicate its genome. The study about the contribution of the CSFV envelope glycoproteins is relevant to understand the mechanisms that the virus employs during infection.

2.1 Erns

Erns is a unique viral protein that can be anchored to the membrane or secreted into the extracellular environment [23]. Both forms of the protein are precisely balanced. The anchored protein contains a long amphipathic helix at its C-terminus that is slightly tilted into the membrane. This differs from the transmembrane domain of E2 and E1 [24, 25]. The soluble form possesses RNase activity, which may be involved in the regulation of RNA synthesis in infected cells, the induction of immunosuppression in the host, and the attenuation of virulence in a virulent background [23, 26]. In the virion, the protein has a molecular weight of 42–48 kDa, but is usually found as a homodimer of about 100 kDa, established by the carboxyl-terminal cysteine C171 [27]. The protein is highly

glycosylated with approximately 50% of its mass consisting of N-linked glycosyl groups [28].

Erns is essential for pestivirus replication but dispensable for infection, as shown by experiments with pseudotyped retroviruses carrying pestivirus glycoproteins [29]. It is thought that the protein may mediate initial attachment to cells by interacting with a widely expressed surface molecule [29]. This was suggested by the fact that Erns of a CSFV vaccine strain also binds to the surface of cells from different species [30]. Hulst et al. [31] investigated the role of GAGs in the initial binding of CSFV to cells. They concluded that the interaction of CSFV Erns with membrane-associated HS facilitates the binding of the virus to the cell surface. This finding is confirmed by the inhibition of binding after propagation in porcine PEDSV.15 cells [32] or in the presence of the drug DSTP 27 [33]. It appears that the increased binding to glycosaminoglycans is a result of cell culture adaptation. The change S476R in the C terminus of Erns proved to be sufficient to transform a HS- independent virus into a virus that uses HS as an Erns receptor [31]. It is thought that electrostatic forces are the cause of this interaction, although HSPG might interact more specifically with the BVDV Erns as it was proposed in another study [34]. Several other data suggest that Erns might interact with a more specific receptor, maybe the Laminin receptor [35]. Its ability to induce neutralizing molecular antibodies capable of blocking infection of HS-independent genotypes or to exert cytotoxic action on lymphocytes in its unbound state favored this idea [36-38]. However, until now its exact contribution to virus infection and entry remains to be discovered.

2.2 E1

E1 is the least characterized of the CSFV structural proteins, and its structure and function require further investigation [23]. It appears to be buried in the membrane, as no antibodies to the protein have been detected in infected animals [39]. E1 is a 33 kDa protein with a transmembrane anchor that forms disulfide-linked heterodimers with E2 on the virus particle [40]. E1 and E2 are the only envelope glycoproteins required to mediate fusion of pseudotyped viruses [29]. The protein has been implicated in the fusion process during viral infection. A stretch of hydrophobic amino acids (57-85) in E1 has been proposed as the peptide responsible for fusion of viral and cellular membranes [41]. However, E1 is only about half the size of E2, and E2 is an elongated protein; thus, E1 would have to be very long and thin to bridge the distance to the target membrane after E2 has established receptor contact [23]. The study of the protein in hepatitis C virus, another member of the Flaviviridae family, suggests that E1 might play a more important role than previously thought in the flavivirus life cycle. Mutations in E1 affect the infectivity of pseudoparticles carrying the HCV glycoproteins and modulate the binding of these particles to CLDN1-expressing cells [42]. These findings support the idea that mutations in E1 might abolish a critical interaction between E1 and CLDN-1 or affect how E2 interacts with cell entry factors. In this regard, it has been observed that mutations in E1 can affect E2-CD81 interaction, indicating that E1 plays a role in modulating the receptor binding capacity of E2 [42]. In another study it was found that mutations T213A and I262A in the protein generated attenuation and shifted the virus receptor dependence from Claudin-1 to Claudin-6 in the target cell line [43].

Studies have also demonstrated the importance of E1 for virulence. An insertion of 19 amino acids into the C-terminus of E1 attenuates the highly virulent strain Brescia [43]. In silico analysis predicted that the insertion introduces an alpha helix and turns near the E1/E2 cleavage site. This change, as described by the authors, may directly affect a specific virulence determinant on E1 or alternatively alter its ability to interact with E2 or other viral proteins critical for viral uptake, cell tropism, or viral spread in the host. It has also been reported that the N6A, N19A, and N100A substitutions cause infertility and attenuation in the BICv strain [44].

2.3 E2

E2 is the most immunogenic protein of the virus and induces a neutralizing antibody response capable of conferring protection [45, 46]. As the main target for neutralizing antibodies, E2 alone can induce protection in animals. This and the fact that E2 is responsible for species tropism has been exploited in vaccine production. The glycoprotein is essential for the life cycle of the pathogen and an important virulence determinant, as virus mutants with partial or complete deletions of E2 are not viable [47, 48]. It is also responsible for the interaction with the cellular receptor that mediates entry determining viral tropism. E2 is anchored to the viral membrane by a hydrophobic sequence in its C-terminus [49]. It can be found as a homodimer of about 100 kDa, but mostly forms heterodimers with E1 of about 75 kDa, stabilized by a disulfide bond [2]. Within the viral genome, the N-terminal half of E2 is one of the most variable regions, so phylogenetic analyses based on 190 nucleotides of this region are used for virus classification [50]. The use of monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) directed against the E2 protein of the Brescia strain of CSFV allowed the identification of 4 antigenic domains: A, B, C and D, at the N-terminal end of the protein [51]. In a model built from the three-dimensional structure of the E2 of this strain, 4 antigenic domains (A, B, C and D), the potential

glycosylation sites and the present disulfide bridges are identified. Domain A has 3 subdomains: A1, A2 and A3, of which the first 2 are highly conserved among different virus strains, while A3 is more variable. Only the A1 subdomain together with the B and C domains induce neutralizing antibodies, but the sequences corresponding to the B and C domains are less conserved [52]. The antigenic sequence 829 TAVSPTTLR837, located in the A/D domain of the protein, has been defined as highly conserved among the different CSFV variants, but not among the different pestiviruses. This sequence is also the target of neutralizing antibodies [53]. A study using a 30-amino acid peptide library whose sequences together spanned the entire protein identified the sequence 830AVSPTTLRTEVVKTFRRDKPFPHRMDCVTT858 as being involved in virus-cell binding [54].

However, even when research on CSFV glycoproteins has been focused mainly on E2 because all the abovementioned reasons, it is worth of consideration the cooperating role of E1 during the entry process. It might be, as has been observed in the case of HCV, more important than we have previously thought.

3 Cellular proteins involved in CSFV entry

Identifying the cellular proteins that mediate virus attachment and entry is critical to understanding virus entry. Unfortunately, the pestivirus entry process remains poorly understood, although previous studies have shown that CSFV infects PK15 cells by binding to several membrane proteins followed by clathrin-dependent endocytosis [19]. Caveolin-dependent entry has also been reported in porcine alveolar macrophages [22]. To date, seven cellular receptor molecules have been described for CSFV, namely heparan sulfate (HS), complement regulatory protein 46 (CD46), low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor, Integrin ß3, Annexin 2, MERKT, Laminin receptor and a disintegrin and metalloproteinase 17 (ADAM17). The main results related to the identification of these molecules and their relevance in the infection are described in detail in the next paragraphs and summarized in Table 1.

3.1 Complement regulatory protein (CD46)-46

Membrane cofactor protein, also known as CD46, is a type I transmembrane protein that serves as a complement regulator [55]. It is expressed in human cells as 4 isoforms derived from alternative splicing of a single gene of approximately 46 kb [56]. CD46 protects host cells from complement attack by acting as a factor I cofactor in the proteolytic inactivation of C3b and C4b [57]. In pigs, the protein is present in cells of epithelial and endothelial origin, fibroblasts and circulating cells and, in contrast to its human counterpart, is abundantly expressed in erythrocytes [55, 58]. Bovine CD46 was identified as the receptor for BVDV after monoclonal antibodies directed against the receptor inhibit viral infection [59, 60]. Furthermore, expression of bovine CD46 in porcine cells increased their susceptibility to BVDV infection [60]. Further studies revealed that peptides $_{66}$ EQIV₆₉ and 82GQVLAL87, located on the antiparallel ß-sheet of CD46 CCP 1, were critical for receptor interaction with BVDV [61]. A study by Hulst et al. [30] suggested that BVDV and CSFV use a homologous receptor because the soluble E2 protein of CSFV could inhibit infection by both viruses. Considering that pestiviruses are structurally and antigenically closely related, the involvement of porcine CD46 in CSFV infection was investigated.

 Table 1
 Cellular factors/proteins involved in CSFV entry

Cellular factor/protein	Functions	CSFV partner	References
CD46	- Acts as a complement regulator - BVDV receptor	Probably E2	[33, 60]
ADAM17	- Intervenes in the processing of transmembrane proteins	E2	[65]
Heparan sulfate	 Prevents degradation of proteins/substances Acts as an endocytosis receptor Is involved in the attachment of multiple virus 	Erns	[31, 33, 68]
Laminin receptor	- Cellular receptor - Is involved in adeno-associated virus infection	Erns	[35]
Integrin ß3	 - Is involved in proliferation and migration of endothelial cells - Acts as receptor/co-receptor for other viruses 	?	[77, 79]
Annexin II	- Participates in membrane trafficking - Has ion channel activity - Participates in DNA replication - Acts as a virus receptor	E2	[81, 83, 84, 86–88]
MERKT	 Is involved in the phagocytic clearence of apoptotic cells Potentiates virus infection 	E2	[89–92]

Dräger et al. [33] incubated virus-permissive cells with a mixture of monoclonal antibodies directed against porcine CD46. The cells were then infected with Roesrath, a moderately virulent variant of CSFV and analyzed by immunofluorescence for evidence of viral infection. The results suggested that CD46 is involved in CSFV infection, since blockade of the protein results in an almost complete inhibition of viral infection. However, when the experiment was repeated using the Roesrath variant, which was subjected to 30 passages in culture, blockade of CD46 had less effect on infection. The authors demonstrated that this was due to the preferential use of HS after adaptation to cell culture, which has been previously observed for CSFV and other viruses [62]. Previous studies by Hulst et al. [31] had shown that in the case of CSFV, after adaptation to culture in SK6 cells, a change from serine to arginine at position 476 of the Erns protein favors binding to HS. It is not known whether this mutation in Erns, which is also sufficient for binding, arises to compensate for any mutation(s) in E2 that reduce(s) the affinity for its own receptor. Since then, it has been assumed that CD46 is one of the receptors involved in CSFV infection, that it interacts with E2. Conversely, a recent study questioned the involvement of CD46 in CSFV infection [63]. Using virus isolates of different virulence and representing genotypes 1 and 2 of the virus, CD46 was not found to be involved in infection. Knockout of the protein did not alter viral infection. Even when some experiments suggest that porcine CD46 plays an important role in CSFV infection, the absence of complete inhibition of the infection after using antibodies directed against the protein, suggests the involvement of other entry factors.

3.2 A disintegrin and metalloproteinase 17 (ADAM17)

The tumor necrosis factor- α -converting enzyme (TACE) usually known as ADAM17 is a single-pass transmembrane metalloproteinase responsible for the processing of many transmembrane proteins. Preliminary studies indicate that it might also be involved in BVDV infection [64]. CRIB cells, which are resistant to infection with BVDV do not express functional full-length ADAM17 mRNA and have two defective alleles of the protein. When ADAM17 was provided in trans in CRIB-1 cells, their resistance to infection with a diverse array of pestivirus (BVDV-1, HoBiPeV, CSFV, LindaV) was nearly completely reverted. Nevertheless, the susceptibility to infection or the propagation efficiency never reach the levels observed in MDBK cells, a cell line used in BVDV infection experiments [64]. This indicates that the effect of additional factors involved in the infection of CRIB cell resistance must be investigated.

Yuan et al. [65] have shown that the protein is also related to CSFV infection of permissive cells. The knockout of the protein in PK15 cells blocked the binding of soluble E2 protein and the entry of CSFV pseudotyped particles (CSFVpp) as well as cell culture grown CSFV. The interaction of the E2 protein and ADAM17 takes place through the metalloproteinase domain. A protein mutant lacking ADAM17 intracellular domain completely reestablished the infection in ADAM17-KO cells, suggesting that the protein serves as an attachment factor during CSFV entry and not as a virus internalization receptor. The sequence aa301-345 in the metalloproteinase domain involved in virus-host recognition is identical in pig, human and mouse. This is a possible explanation of why mouse and human ADAM17 could confer permissiveness of CSFVpp to ADAM17-KO cells as efficiently as pig ADAM17. This indicates that ADAM17 is not a host determinant of CSFV infection, and the infection process might require the involvement of other proteins.

3.3 Heparan sulfate

Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG) are cell surface proteins covalently linked to glycosaminoglycan (GAG) chains of heparan sulfates (HS), an unbranched sulfated anionic polysaccharide [66]. HSPGs are present at the cell surface membrane and their multiple functions include preventing the degradation of cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and morphogens, and serving as endocytosis receptors for extracellular molecules and other cellular receptors. The highly sulfated GAG chains of HPSG provide the global negative charge sufficient to electrostatically attract the basic residues of viral surface glycoproteins or the viral capsid proteins of non-enveloped viruses. These interactions, even the weak ones, can increase the virus concentration at the cell surface and facilitate the likelihood of binding a more specific entry receptor [67].

Many viruses, ranging from natural isolated to laboratory strains, have shown a HSPG dependance during infection [66]. For others, the use of HSPG is a result of cell culture or intra-host adaptation. This seems to be the case of CSFV. According to the investigations carried out by Hulst et al. [31] and supported by other studies [33, 68], CSFV is able to use HS as an attachment factor after adaptation to cell culture. Treatment of SK6 cells with heparinase I and heparin affected the infection of those virus clones that had been amplified in cell culture, but not of newly isolated clones. As it has been previously described, a mutation of Serine to Arginine in Erns at the position 476 of the CSFV genome, is responsible for this dependency. The substitution of Ser for Arg increases the net positive charge of this region, facilitating the electrostatic interaction of proximal or more distant amino acids of the protein with the negatively charged HS [31]. Although, the possibility of more specific interaction with HS is a plausible idea, as it has been reported to take place during the infection of Herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) [69]. In this case, the 3-*O*-sulfation of specific glucosamine residues in heparan sulfate generates binding sites for the viral gD protein or the expression of other previously identified gD-binding receptors.

The role of HS for CSFV infection in vivo is a reasonable concern considering the influence of cell culture adaptation in this interaction. Hulst et al. [68] generated HS independent (Ser476) or dependent (Arg476) mutants from a virulent strain of CSFV to conduct infection experiments with pigs. Further reisolation of these viruses showed that the HS-independent recombinant ones were able to infect cultured and primary swine kidney cells by an HS-dependent mechanism. No mutations were observed in the Erns, E1, and E2 genes of this virus, suggesting that the surface properties of CSFV generated in pigs, carrying Ser476 in the C terminus of Erns, were distinct from those of genetically identical virus produced in cell culture.

More studies are needed to elucidate the role of the molecule in the virus infection in vitro and in vivo. HS can function as an independent attachment factor or work coordinately with another more specific cell receptor to mediate CSFV entry considering that, in most cases, binding of viruses to HS is not sufficient to enter the host cell.

3.4 Laminin receptor

Laminin receptor (LamR) is a protein involved in the specific interactions with Laminin. It is expressed in the cell in two forms: a cytoplasmic protein of 37 kDa and a membrane protein of approximately 67 kDa [70, 71]. In mammalian cells, LamR acts as a cellular receptor for the cellular prion protein (PrP) [72], and it mediates the infection of adeno-associated virus serotypes 8, 2, 3, and 9 [73]. It has also been identified as a cellular receptor for Dengue virus, another member of the Flaviridae family [74, 75]. Chen et al. [35] found that the protein is involved in the attachment of CSFV to the cell after screening pooled siRNAs against porcine membrane proteins. Anti-LamR antibodies, soluble laminin or LamR before virus incubation decreased CSFV infection. The membrane protein seems to interact with Erns after a coimmunoprecipitation assay. The receptor expression did not confer susceptibility to infection in nonpermissive cells, which might indicate that it acts as an attachment factor. This hypothesis was validated by the fact that LamR expression was sufficient to increase the binding of CSFV virions to both permissive and nonpermissive cells. The researcher suggested that LamR functioned as an alternative pathway to the HS pathway. If there is abundant HS on the cell surface, increasing the expression of LamR does not enhance the infection rate. Therefore, LamR is involved in CSFV attachment but it not the receptor responsible for its.

3.5 Integrin ß3

Integrin ß3 is a member of the integrins superfamily present at the membrane of a wide range of cells. It is a heterodimer composed of noncovalently bound a and b subunits and has been classified into this subfamily by its ß subunit. Structurally, each subunit is a transmembrane glycoprotein whose N-terminal domains combine to form the ligand-binding site. Integrin ß3 is known to be important in endothelial cell migration, vascular biology, and tumor angiogenesis. It is also an important cell receptor mediating complex outside-in signaling, probably the reason why many viruses use it as a receptor, co-receptor, or a key molecule for infection [18, 76, 77]. Many of these virus-integrin interactions are dependent on the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) cell-adhesion motif The RGD motif can interact with over half of the more than 20 known integrins [78].

Li et al. [79] investigated the role of integrin β 3 during CSFV infection and proliferation. The authors found a positive correlation between CSFV proliferation in swine testicles epithelial cells (ST) and the high amount of integrin β 3 in these cells. In addition, the amount of CSFV proliferation decreased in integrin β 3-funtionally blocked cells as well as in integrin β 3-deficient cells. However, even when this study suggests that integrin β 3 could be a promising receptor for CSFV, additional studies are needed to evaluate if the protein is indeed related with virus attachment or entry.

3.6 Annexin II

Annexin II is a member of the annexin gene family with binding sites for Ca²⁺, phospholipids, and F-actin in its core domain. It has also been reported that its COOH-terminal region binds heparin and plasminogen [80-82]. The protein exists as a monomer (p36) or a heterotetramer formed from two p36 and two p11(S100A10) subunits. It has been implicated in exocytosis and endocytosis pathways, as well as in ion channel activity and stimulation of DNA replication [81]. Annexin II traffic to the cell surface is conducted by an unknown mechanism [80]. It has been identified as a receptor for CMV [83] and respiratory syncytial virus [84], and a co-factor for macrophage human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 infection [85]. Some studies have assessed the participation of Annexin II in CSFV infection. The genomic expression of the protein was upregulated in CSFV-infected PK-15 cells

[86] and the treatment of PK-15 cells with Anx2-specific polyclonal antibody prior to virus infection significantly inhibited CSFV multiplication [87]. In pig peripheral blood leukocytes Annexin II expression was also upregulated after CSFV in vivo infection [88]. In this study the protein co-localized in the cytoplasm of infected PK-15 cells with CSFV glycoprotein E2 after confocal laser-scanning microscopy. This finding suggests that annexin II may interact with certain viral proteins during CSFV replication and thereby promote the virus cycle.

3.7 MERTK

MERTK is a protein tyrosine kinase included in the TAM (TYRO3, AXL, and MERTK) family. The tyrosine kinases are related with the phagocytic clearance of apoptotic cells and the antagonism of innate immune responses. The interaction of TAM receptors with different viruses has been related with viral infection potentiation. The entry mechanisms facilitated by this family are diverse depending on the member and probably also the virus. For example, AXL enables Zaire Ebolavirus (ZEBOV) entry by macropinocytosis [89] while mediating the entry of dengue virus (DENV) into host cells via the clathrindependent endocytosis pathway [90, 91]. An analysis of transcriptomic data describing gene expression profiles on PK-15 cells after CSFV infection revealed that MERTK could be involved in this process [92]. CSFV protein expression was significantly reduced by MERKT-RNA interference (RNAi) screening. Furthermore, either anti-MERTK antibodies or soluble MERTK ectodomain could reduce CSFV infection in PK-15 cells in a dosedependent manner. It seems like the protein interacts with CSFV glycoprotein E2 during the entry process. This was indicated by its coimmunoprecipitation with E2 but not Erns and surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis of the ectodomains (ED) of E2 and MERTK. The equilibrium dissociation constant (KD) value between MERTK^{ED}-His and E2^{ED}-His was 1.629 µM. Correspondingly, the colocalization of MERTK and E2 was confirmed in HEK293 T cells, which transiently overexpress the two proteins. Post virus entry analysis showed that MERTK downregulates of mRNA expression of IFN-β and promotes CSFV infection. Interestingly, the soluble MERTK ectodomain could also reduce the infection of bovine viral diarrhea virus (BVDV), another pestivirus.

4 Current issues and future challenges

CSFV is an interesting pathogen from a molecular, sanitary, and economic point of view. Investigations conducted over the last two decades have helped to elucidate some of the intriguing features of this virus and have contributed significantly to our view of the virus-host interplay. Although much is known about the events that occur after entry, our understanding of the mechanisms involved in viral entry needs to be further explored. Many questions remain: What is the key factor involved in CSFV entry? Is the host cell receptor(s) used by CSFV the same for all cell lines? Are the in vitro results a true

reflection of what happens in vivo?

In the study of CSFV, some considerations may help to understand and focus future investigations. First, this virus, like hepatitis C virus (HCV), another member of the family, may use a different type of receptors and entry mechanisms [93–96]. This strategy is thought to facilitate viral infection in the absence of a receptor [35]. Second, even though Erns and E2 have been the more studied proteins to date, a closer look at E1 may reveal previously undescribed contributions. Finally, the combination of new technologies such as high-throughput gene sequencing, gene editing, and genome-based functional screening would be extremely helpful in the investigation of new molecules.

Some studies have already discovered many genes that are up- or down-regulated after CSFV infection, including the SR-BII gene, TYRO3, CD97, and CD69. For example, SR-BII has been found to mediate the internalization of hepatitis C virus (HCV) into cells through its interaction with HCV soluble E2 envelope glycoprotein. Its upregulation after CSFV infection suggests that it may also be involved in this process [88]. The study of these genes and the possible relationship between the receptors identified so far and their possible membrane partners is also part of the strategy to elucidate the CSFV entry mechanism.

5 Conclusion

In summary, the experimental evidence available so far indicates that CSFV entry into the cell, at least in vitro, is mediated by Erns and E2 proteins. Interaction of Erns with HS or the Laminin receptor could facilitate the initial binding of the virus to the cell. Subsequently, interaction of E2 with various molecules on the membrane may lead to specific binding to the receptor that mediates entry. The proteins involved could be different depending on the virus genotype and cell type. Nevertheless, the key receptor involved in virus entry remains to be further investigated and will help us better understand the viral tropism.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Dr Llilianne Ganges (Institute of Agrifood Research and Technology, Centre de Recerca en Sanitat Animal (CReSA), Spain) for her valuable contribution during the YL-R fellowship which led to this publication.

Authors' contributions

YLR, writing the manuscript; MFY, reviewing; OSR; reviewing. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

YL-R has a pre-doctoral fellowship from the ANID (ex-CONICYT) PFCHA/Doctorado Nacional/2017–21170713.

Declarations

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 23 August 2023 Accepted: 3 October 2023 Published online: 01 December 2023

References

- 1. OIE (2021) Chap. 15.2: infection with classical swine Fever virus. Terrestrial animal health code, 28th edn. OIE
- Ganges L, Crooke HR, Bohórquez JA, Postel A, Sakoda Y, Becher P, Ruggli N (2020) Classical swine fever virus: the past, present and future. Virus Res 289:198151
- 3. Blome S, Staubach C, Henke J, Carlson J, Beer M (2017) Classical swine fever—an updated review. Viruses 9:86
- Simmonds P, Becher P, Bukh J, Gould EA, Meyers G, Monath T, Muerhoff S, Pletnev A, Rico-Hesse R, Smith DB (2017) ICTV virus taxonomy profile: flaviviridae. J Gen Virol 98:2–3
- King AM, Lefkowitz E, Adams MJ, Carstens EB (2011) Virus taxonomy: ninth report of the international committee on taxonomy of viruses, vol 9. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Rümenapf T, Unger G, Strauss JH, Thiel HJ (1993) Processing of the envelope glycoproteins of pestiviruses. J Virol 67:3288–3294
- Rümenapf T, Stark R, Meyers G, Thiel HJ (1991) Structural proteins of hog cholera virus expressed by vaccinia virus: further characterization and induction of protective immunity. J Virol 65:589–597
- Lamp B, Riedel C, Roman-Sosa G, Heimann M, Jacobi S, Becher P, Thiel HJ, Rümenapf T (2011) Biosynthesis of classical swine fever virus nonstructural proteins. J Virol 85:3607–3620
- Wong ML, Liu JJ, Huang C, Chen JW, Chang TJ (1998) Molecular cloning and nucleotide sequence of 3'-terminal region of classical swine fever virus LPC vaccine strain. Virus Genes 17:213–218
- 10. Blome S, Moß C, Reimann I, König P, Beer M (2017) Classical swine fever vaccines—state-of-the-art. Vet Microbiol 206:10–20
- Liu J, Fan XZ, Wang Q, Xu L, Zhao QZ, Huang W, Zhou YC, Tang B, Chen L, Zou XQ (2011) Dynamic distribution and tissue tropism of classical swine fever virus in experimentally infected pigs. Virol J 8:201
- 12. Ressang A (1973) Studies on the pathogenesis of hog cholera: II. Virus distribution in tissue and the morphology of the immune response. Zentralbl Veterinarmed B 20:272–288
- Huang YL, Deng MC, Wang FI, Huang CC, Chang CY (2014) The challenges of classical swine fever control: modified live and E2 subunit vaccines. Virus Res 179:1–11
- 14. Weesendorp E, Stegeman A, Loeffen W (2009) Dynamics of virus excretion via different routes in pigs experimentally infected with classical swine fever virus strains of high, moderate or low virulence. Vet Microbiol 133:9–22
- Summerfield A, McNeilly F, Walker I, Allan G, Knoetig SM, McCullough KC (2001) Depletion of CD4 + and CD8high + T-cells before the onset of viraemia during classical swine fever. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 78:3–19
- 16. Belák K, Koenen F, Vanderhallen H, Mittelholzer C, Feliziani F, De Mia GM, Belák S (2008) Comparative studies on the pathogenicity and tissue distribution of three virulence variants of classical swine fever virus, two field isolates and one vaccine strain, with special regard to immunohistochemical investigations. Acta Vet Scand 50:34
- 17. Cohen FS (2016) How viruses invade cells. Biophys J 110:1028-1032
- Maginnis MS (2018) Virus–receptor interactions: the key to cellular invasion. J Mol Biol 430:2590–2611
- Shi BJ, Liu CC, Zhou J, Wang SQ, Gao ZC, Zhang XM, Zhou B, Chen PY (2016) Entry of classical swine fever virus into PK-15 cells via a pH-,

dynamin-, and cholesterol-dependent, clathrin-mediated endocytic pathway that requires Rab5 and Rab7. J Virol 90:9194–9208

- Lecot S, Belouzard S, Dubuisson J, Rouillé Y (2005) Bovine viral diarrhea virus entry is dependent on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. J Virol 79:10826–10829
- Mathapati BS, Mishra N, Rajukumar K, Nema RK, Behera SP, Dubey SC (2010) Entry of bovine viral diarrhea virus into ovine cells occurs through clathrin-dependent endocytosis and low pH-dependent fusion. In vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim 46:403–407
- Zhang YN, Liu YY, Xiao FC, Liu CC, Liang XD, Chen J, Zhou J, Baloch AS, Kan L, Zhou B (2018) Rab5, Rab7, and Rab11 are required for caveoladependent endocytosis of classical swine fever virus in porcine alveolar macrophages. J Virol 92:e00797–18
- 23. Tautz N, Tews BA, Meyers G (2015) The molecular biology of pestiviruses. Adv Virus Res 93:47–160
- 24. Tews BA, Meyers G (2007) The pestivirus glycoprotein Erns is anchored in plane in the membrane via an amphipathic helix. J Biol Chem 282:32730–32741
- Fetzer C, Tews BA, Meyers G (2005) The carboxy-terminal sequence of the pestivirus glycoprotein Erns represents an unusual type of membrane anchor. J Virol 79:11901–11913
- Meyer C, Von Freyburg M, Elbers K, Meyers G (2002) Recovery of virulent and RNase-negative attenuated type 2 bovine viral diarrhea viruses from infectious cDNA clones. J Virol 76:8494–8503
- Tews BA, Schürmann EM, Meyers G (2009) Mutation of cysteine 171 of pestivirus erns RNase prevents homodimer formation and leads to attenuation of classical swine fever virus. J Virol 83:4823–4834
- Hulst MM, Moormann RJ (2001) Erns protein of pestiviruses. Methods Enzymol 342:431–440
- Wang Z, Nie Y, Wang P, Ding M, Deng H (2004) Characterization of classical swine Fever virus entry by using pseudotyped viruses: E1 and E2 are sufficient to mediate viral entry. Virology 330:332–341
- Hulst MM, Moormann RJM (1997) Inhibition of pestivirus infection in cell culture by envelope proteins E^{rns} and E2 of classical swine Fever virus: E^{rns} and E2 interact with different receptors. J Gen Virol 78:2779–2787
- Hulst M, Van Gennip H, Moormann R (2000) Passage of classical swine fever virus in cultured swine kidney cells selects virus variants that bind to heparan sulfate due to a single amino acid change in envelope protein Erns. J Virol 74:9553–9561
- Eymann-Häni R, Leifer I, McCullough KC, Summerfield A, Ruggli N (2011) Propagation of classical swine fever virus in vitro circumventing heparan sulfate-adaptation. J Virol Methods 176:85–95
- Dräger C, Beer M, Blome S (2015) Porcine complement regulatory protein CD46 and heparan sulfates are the major factors for classical swine fever virus attachment in vitro. Arch Virol 160:739–746
- Iqbal M, Flick-Smith H, McCauley JW (2000) Interactions of bovine viral diarrhoea virus glycoprotein erns with cell surface glycosaminoglycans. J Gen Virol 81:451–459
- Chen J, He WR, Shen L, Dong H, Yu J, Wang X, Yu S, Li Y, Li S, Luo Y (2015) The laminin receptor is a cellular attachment receptor for classical swine fever virus. J Virol 89:4894–4906
- Weiland E, Ahl R, Stark R, Weiland F, Thiel HJ (1992) A second envelope glycoprotein mediates neutralization of a pestivirus, hog cholera virus. J Virol 66:3677–3682
- Bruschke C, Hulst MM, Moormann R, Van Rijn P, Van Oirschot J (1997) Glycoprotein erns of pestiviruses induces apoptosis in lymphocytes of several species. J Virol 71:6692–6696
- Meyers G, Saalmüller A, Büttner M (1999) Mutations abrogating the RNase activity in glycoprotein erns of the pestivirus classical swine fever virus lead to virus attenuation. J Virol 73:10224–10235
- 39. Ji W, Guo Z, Ding NZ, He CQ (2015) Studying classical swine fever virus: making the best of a bad virus. Virus Res 197:35–47
- El Omari K, Lourin O, Harlos K, Grimes Jonathan M, Stuart DI (2013) Structure of a pestivirus envelope glycoprotein E2 clarifies its role in cell entry. Cell Rep 3:30–35
- Ronecker S, Zimmer G, Herrler G, Greiser-Wilke I, Grummer B (2008) Formation of bovine viral diarrhea virus E1–E2 heterodimers is essential for virus entry and depends on charged residues in the transmembrane domains. J Gen Virol 89:2114–2121
- 42. Douam F, Dao Thi VL, Maurin G, Fresquet J, Mompelat D, Zeisel MB, Baumert TF, Cosset FL, Lavillette D (2014) Critical interaction between

E1 and E2 glycoproteins determines binding and fusion properties of Hepatitis C virus during cell entry. Hepatology 59:776–788

- Haddad JG, Rouillé Y, Hanoulle X, Descamps V, Hamze M, Dabboussi F, Baumert TF, Duverlie G, Lavie M, Dubuisson J (2017) Identification of novel functions for Hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E1 in virus entry and assembly. J Virol 91:e00048–17
- 44. Fernandez-Sainz I, Holinka L, Gavrilov B, Prarat M, Gladue D, Lu Z, Jia W, Risatti G, Borca M (2009) Alteration of the N-linked glycosylation condition in E1 glycoprotein of classical swine fever virus strain Brescia alters virulence in swine. Virology 386:210–216
- Zhang H, Wen W, Zhao Z, Wang J, Chen H, Qian P, Li X (2018) Enhanced protective immunity to CSFV E2 subunit vaccine by using IFN-γ as immunoadjuvant in weaning piglets. Vaccine 36:7353–7360
- Beer M, Reimann I, Hoffmann B, Depner K (2007) Novel marker vaccines against classical swine Fever. Vaccine 25:5665–5670
- van Gennip HGP, Bouma A, van Rijn PA, Widjojoatmodjo MN, Moormann RJM (2002) Experimental non-transmissible marker vaccines for classical swine Fever (CSF) by trans-complementation of Erns or E2 of CSFV. Vaccine 20:1544–1556
- Risatti GR, Borca MV, Kutish GF, Lu Z, Holinka LG, French RA, Tulman ER, Rock DL (2005) The E2 glycoprotein of classical swine fever virus is a virulence determinant in swine. J Virol 79:3787–3796
- Postel A, Nishi T, Kameyama KI, Meyer D, Suckstorff O, Fukai K, Becher P (2019) Reemergence of classical swine Fever, Japan, 2018. Emerg Infect Dis 25:1228–1231
- Cole CG, Henley RR, Dale CN, Mott LO, Torrey JP, Zinober MR (1962) History of hog Cholera research in the US Department of Agriculture 1884–1960. Agriculture Information Bulletin No. 241, USDA, Washington DC
- Van Rijn P, Miedema G, Wensvoort G, Van Gennip H, Moormann R (1994) Antigenic structure of envelope glycoprotein E1 of hog cholera virus. J Virol 68:3934–3942
- Van Rijn PD, Van Gennip H, De Meijer E, Moormann R (1993) Epitope mapping of envelope glycoprotein E1 of hog cholera virus strain brescia. J Gen Virol 74:2053–2060
- 53. Zhang FQ, Yu M, Weiland E, Morrissy C, Zhang N, Westbury H, Wang LF (2006) Characterization of epitopes for neutralizing monoclonal antibodies to classical swine fever virus E2 and E rns using phage-displayed random peptide library. Arch Virol 151:37–54
- Li X, Wang L, Zhao D, Zhang G, Luo J, Deng R, Yang Y (2011) Identification of host cell binding peptide from an overlapping peptide library for inhibition of classical swine fever virus infection. Virus Genes 43:33–40
- Riley-Vargas RC, Gill DB, Kemper C, Liszewski MK, Atkinson JP (2004) CD46: expanding beyond complement regulation. Trends Immunol 25:496–503
- Seya T, Hirano A, Matsumoto M, Nomura M, Ueda S (1999) Human membrane cofactor protein (MCP, CD46): multiple isoforms and functions. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 31:1255–1260
- Liszewski MK, Farries TC, Lublin DM, Rooney IA, Atkinson JP (1996) Control of the complement system. Adv Immunol 61:201–283
- Van den Berg C, De La Perez J, Llanes D, Morgan BP (1997) Purification and characterization of the pig analogue of human membrane cofactor protein (CD46/MCP). J Immunol 158:1703–1709
- 59. Maurer K, Krey T, Moennig V, Thiel HJR, Rümenapf T (2004) CD46 is a cellular receptor for bovine viral diarrhea virus. J Virol 78:1792–1799
- Schelp C, Greiser-Wilke L, Wolf G, Beer M, Moennig V, Liess B (1995) Identification of cell membrane proteins linked to susceptibility to bovine viral Diarrhoea virus Infection. Arch Virol 140:1997–2009
- Krey T, Himmelreich A, Heimann M, Menge C, Thiel HJR, Maurer K, Rümenapf T (2006) Function of bovine CD46 as a cellular receptor for bovine viral diarrhea virus is determined by complement control protein 1. J Virol 80:3912–3922
- 62. Klimstra WB, Ryman KD, Johnston RE (1998) Adaptation of sindbis virus to BHK cells selects for use of heparan sulfate as an attachment receptor. J Virol 72:7357–7366
- Cagatay GN, Antos A, Suckstorff O, Isken O, Tautz N, Becher P, Postel A (2021) Porcine complement regulatory protein CD46 is a major receptor for atypical porcine pestivirus but not for classical swine fever virus. J Virol 95:e02120–e02186

- 64. Zaruba M, Chen HW, Pietsch OF, Szakmary-Braendle K, Auer A, Mötz M, Seitz K, Düsterhöft S, Workman AM, Rümenapf T (2022) Adam17 is an essential factor for the Infection of bovine cells with pestiviruses. Viruses 14:381
- 65. Yuan F, Li D, Li C, Zhang Y, Song H, Li S, Deng H, Gao GF, Zheng A (2021) ADAM17 is an essential attachment factor for classical swine fever virus. PLoS Pathol 17:e1009393
- 66. Cagno V, Tseligka ED, Jones ST, Tapparel C (2019) Heparan sulfate proteoglycans and viral attachment: true receptors or adaptation bias? Viruses 11:596
- Rusnati M, Vicenzi E, Donalisio M, Oreste P, Landolfo S, Lembo D (2009) Sulfated K5 *Escherichia coli* polysaccharide derivatives: a novel class of candidate antiviral microbicides. Pharmacol Therapeut 123:310–322
- Hulst M, Van Gennip H, Vlot A, Schooten E, De Smit A, Moormann R (2001) Interaction of classical swine fever virus with membrane-associated heparan sulfate: role for virus replication in vivo and virulence. J Virol 75:9585–9595
- Shukla D, Liu J, Blaiklock P, Shworak NW, Bai X, Esko JD, Cohen GH, Eisenberg RJ, Rosenberg RD, Spear PG (1999) A novel role for 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. Cell 99:13–22
- Malinoff HL, Wicha MS (1983) Isolation of a cell surface receptor protein for laminin from murine fibrosarcoma cells. J Cell Biol 96:1475–1479
- Terranova V, Rao C, Kalebic T, Margulies I, Liotta L (1983) Laminin receptor on human breast carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80:444–448
- Gauczynski S, Peyrin JM, Haïk S, Leucht C, Hundt C, Rieger R, Krasemann S, Deslys JP, Dormont D, Lasmézas CI (2001) The 37-kDa/67-kDa laminin receptor acts as the cell-surface receptor for the cellular prion protein. EMBO J 20:5863–5875
- Akache B, Grimm D, Pandey K, Yant SR, Xu H, Kay MA (2006) The 37/67-kilodalton laminin receptor is a receptor for adeno-associated virus serotypes 8, 2, 3, and 9. J Virol 80:9831–9836
- 74. Thepparit C, Smith DR (2004) Serotype-specific entry of dengue virus into liver cells: identification of the 37-kilodalton/67-kilodalton high-affinity laminin receptor as a dengue virus serotype 1 receptor. J Virol 78:12647–12656
- Sakoonwatanyoo P, Boonsanay V, Smith DR (2006) Growth and production of the dengue virus in C6/36 cells and identification of a lamininbinding protein as a candidate serotype 3 and 4 receptor protein. Intervirology 49:161–172
- Triantafilou K, Takada Y, Triantafilou M (2001) Mechanisms of integrinmediated virus attachment and internalization process. Crit Rev Immunol 21:311–322
- 77. Stewart PL, Nemerow GR (2007) Cell integrins: commonly used receptors for diverse viral pathogens. Trends Microbiol 15:500–507
- Hussein HA, Walker LR, Abdel-Raouf UM, Desouky SA, Montasser AKM, Akula SM (2015) Beyond RGD: virus interactions with integrins. Arch Virol 160:2669–2681
- 79. Li W, Wang G, Liang W, Kang K, Guo K, Zhang Y (2014) Integrin β 3 is required in Infection and proliferation of classical swine fever virus. PLoS One 9:e110911
- Mollenhauer J (1997) Annexins: what are they good for? Cell Mol Life Sci 53:506–507
- Waisman DM (1995) Annexin II tetramer: structure and function. Mol Cell Biochem 149–150:301–322
- Brownstein C, Deora AB, Jacovina AT, Weintraub R, Gertler M, Khan KM, Falcone DJ, Hajjar KA (2004) Annexin II mediates plasminogen-dependent matrix invasion by human monocytes: enhanced expression by macrophages. Blood 103:317–324
- Raynor CM, Wright JF, Waisman DM, Pryzdial EL (1999) Annexin II enhances cytomegalovirus binding and fusion to phospholipid membranes. Biochemistry 38:5089–5095
- Malhotra R, Ward M, Bright H, Priest R, Foster MR, Hurle M, Blair E, Bird M (2003) Isolation and characterisation of potential respiratory syncytial virus receptor(s) on epithelial cells. Microb Infect 5:123–133
- Ma G, Greenwell-Wild T, Lei K, Jin W, Swisher J, Hardegen N, Wild CT, Wahl SM (2004) Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor binds to annexin II, a cofactor for macrophage HIV-1 Infection. J Exp Med 200:1337–1346

- Sun J, Jiang Y, Shi Z, Yan Y, Guo H, He F, Tu C (2008) Proteomic alteration of PK-15 cells after infection by classical swine fever virus. J Proteome Res 7:5263–5269
- Yang Z, Shi Z, Guo H, Qu H, Zhang Y, Tu C (2015) Annexin 2 is a host protein binding to classical swine fever virus E2 glycoprotein and promoting viral growth in PK-15 cells. Virus Res 201:16–23
- Shi Z, Sun J, Guo H, Tu C (2009) Genomic expression profiling of peripheral blood leukocytes of pigs infected with highly virulent classical swine Fever virus strain Shimen. J Gen Virol 90:1670–1680
- Hunt CL, Kolokoltsov AA, Davey RA, Maury W (2011) The Tyro3 receptor kinase Axl enhances macropinocytosis of Zaire Ebolavirus. J Virol 85:334–347
- Van Der Schaar HM, Rust MJ, Chen C, van der Ende-Metselaar H, Wilschut J, Zhuang X, Smit JM (2008) Dissecting the cell entry pathway of dengue virus by single-particle tracking in living cells. PLoS Pathog 4:e1000244
- Meertens L, Carnec X, Lecoin MP, Ramdasi R, Guivel-Benhassine F, Lew E, Lemke G, Schwartz O, Amara A (2012) The TIM and TAM families of phosphatidylserine receptors mediate dengue virus entry. Cell Host Microb 12:544–557
- Zheng G, Li LF, Zhang Y, Qu L, Wang W, Li M, Yu S, Zhou M, Luo Y, Sun Y (2020) MERTK is a host factor that promotes classical swine Fever virus entry and antagonizes innate immune response in PK-15 cells. Emerg Microb Infect 9:571–581
- Evans MJ, von Hahn T, Tscherne DM, Syder AJ, Panis M, Wölk B, Hatziioannou T, McKeating JA, Bieniasz PD, Rice CM (2007) Claudin-1 is a Hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. Nature 446:801–805
- 94. Pileri P, Uematsu Y, Campagnoli S, Galli G, Falugi F, Petracca R, Weiner AJ, Houghton M, Rosa D, Grandi G (1998) Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. Science 282:938–941
- Ploss A, Evans MJ, Gaysinskaya VA, Panis M, You H, de Jong YP, Rice CM (2009) Human occludin is a hepatitis C virus entry factor required for infection of mouse cells. Nature 457:882–886
- Scarselli E, Ansuini H, Cerino R, Roccasecca RM, Acali S, Filocamo G, Traboni C, Nicosia A, Cortese R, Vitelli A (2002) The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. EMBO J 21:5017–5025

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions

